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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
BEFORE THE
FEDERAL ENERGY REGULATORY COMMISSION

Ohio Valley Electric Corporation,
Complainant,

Docket No. EL18-

)

)

)

)

\'A )
)

FirstEnergy Solutions Corp., )
)

)

Respondent.

COMPLAINT OR, IN THE ALTERNATIVE,
REQUEST FOR DECLARATORY ORDER

Pursuant to section 306 of the Federal Power Act (“FPA”)! and Rule 206 of the Federal
Energy Regulatory Commission’s (“FERC” or the “Commission”) Rules of Practice and
Procedure,” Ohio Valley Electric Corporation and its wholly-owned subsidiary, Indiana-
Kentucky Electric Corporation (collectively, “OVEC”), respectfully submits this Complaint
(“Complaint”) against FirstEnergy Solutions Corp. (“FirstEnergy”).  FirstEnergy is a
counterparty to the Inter-Company Power Agreement (“ICPA”)?, a long-term power supply
and cost-recovery agreement under which FirstEnergy is obligated to pay for its contractual
share of the costs incurred by OVEC to meet its obligations under the ICPA. The Complaint
asks the Commission to find that FirstEnergy’s anticipated breach of the ICPA would amount to

a termination of FirstEnergy’s purchase obligation in violation of the filed rate doctrine and

116 U.S.C. § 825e.
218 C.F.R. § 385.206.
* The ICPA is included as Attachment A to this pleading.
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a collateral attack on the filed rate.”®

But even under the narrowest reading of FERC’s
authority vis-a-vis that of the bankruptcy courts, FERC’s authority is exclusive where the
actions of the debtor would result in changes to a FERC-filed rate.’

If the Commission declines to act on OVEC’s Complaint, OVEC alternatively
requests, under Rule 207(a)(2) of FERC’s Rules of Practice and Procedure'® and section 554(e)
of the Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”),!! that the Commission issue a declaratory order
finding that it has exclusive jurisdiction over the ICPA. Such an order is within the
Commission’s authority as it would resolve the substantial marketplace uncertainty created
by FirstEnergy’s anticipated bankruptcy filing and potential attempt to reject the ICPA.

Even assuming, arguendo, under the broadest possible interpretation of a bankruptcy
court’s jurisdiction to authorize rejection of the ICPA, the bankruptcy court nonetheless
must consider determinations by this Commission whether or not rejection of the contract
would be in the public interest.'? Thus, OVEC also makes this alternative request for
declaratory order: Should the Commission determine that it does not have exclusive
authority over the ICPA, OVEC requests that the Commission issue a declaratory order
advising the bankruptcy court that rejection of the ICPA would be contrary to the public
interest. And, should the Commission conclude that it needs more information to make that
determination, OVEC would support FERC’s initiation of proceedings in which affected

parties could submit comments and briefs on the issue.

8 In re Calpine Corp., 337 BR. 27, 36 (S.D.N.Y. Jan. 27, 2006).

? In re Mirant Corp., 378 F.3d 511, 519 (5™ Cir. 2004).

218 C.F.R. § 385.207(a)(2).

15 USC § 554(e) (2012).

12 In re Mirant Corp., 378 F.3d at 524-26; In re Mirant Corp., 318 B.R. 100, 108 (N.D. Tx. 2004) (on remand).
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All of these points are discussed in more detail, infra. Briefly, OVEC requests the
following relief:

1. A Commission order granting OVEC's Complaint (1) by making a finding that
FirstEnergy's anticipatory breach of the ICPA constitutes a violation of its
obligations under that agreement, and (2) by making a determination that
permitting FirstEnergy to terminate its obligations under the ICPA would be
contrary to the public interest in violation of the Mobile Sierra doctrine (and to
establish such additional procedures as may be necessary to make the latter
determination);

2. Alternatively, a Commission order declaring that it has exclusive jurisdiction to
ascertain whether FirstEnergy's anticipatory breach of its purchase obligation
under the ICPA, by rejection of the contract in bankruptcy or otherwise, (1) is a
matter exclusively within the jurisdiction of the Commission, and (2) that such
termination would be contrary to the public interest in violation of the Mobile
Sierra doctrine (and to establish such additional procedures as may be necessary
to make the latter determination); and

3. Alternatively, should the Commission determine that it lacks exclusive
jurisdiction, to initiate proceedings to ascertain whether termination of
FirstEnergy's purchase obligations under the ICPA would be contrary to the
public interest in violation of the Mobile Sierra doctrine (and to establish such
additional procedures for the development of a record as may be necessary to
make the latter determination) and to advise the bankruptcy court both of its
intention to make such a determination and of its ultimate conclusions.

I. SERVICE AND COMMUNICATIONS

All correspondence and communications to the Complainant in this docket
should be addressed to the following individuals, whose names should be entered on the official

service list maintained by the Secretary in connection with these proceedings: '

13 OVEC requests waiver of 18 C.F.R. § 385.203(b)(3), to the extent necessary, to allow the placement of four
OVEC representatives on the official service list in this docket.
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extended through December 31, 2005. The current term of the ICPA extends through June
30, 2040. On September 29, 2000, DOE notified OVEC of its cancellation of the DOE
Power Agreement, effective April 30, 2003. Since the termination of the DOE Power
Agreement, OVEC’s entire generating capacity has been exclusively available to the
Sponsoring Companies under the terms of the ICPA. The ICPA, and all amendments
thereto, constitute a FERC-filed, cost-based power agreement.* The current Sponsoring
Companies of OVEC are as follows (and share the following OVEC “power participation ratio”

benefits and payment obligations under the ICPA):

Sponsoring Company % Share Parent Entity15
Allegheny Energy Supply Company LLC  3.01% FE
Appalachian Power Company 15.69% AEP
Buckeye Power Generating, LLC 18.00% Buckeye
The Dayton Power and Light Company 4.90% AES
Duke Energy Ohio, Inc. 9.00% Duke
FirstEnergy Solutions Corp. 4.85% FE
Indiana Michigan Power Company 7.85% AEP
Kentucky Utilities Company 2.50% PPL
Louisville Gas and Electric Company 5.63% PPL
Monongahela Power Company 0.49% FE
Ohio Power Company 19.93% AEP
Peninsula Generation Cooperative 6.65% Wolverine
Southern Indiana Gas and Electric Company 1.50% Vectren
100.00%

Under the ICPA, OVEC must “make Available Energy available to each Sponsoring

Company in proportion to said Sponsoring Company’s Power Participation Ratio.”'® While no

!4 The Commission accepted the ICPA in a delegated letter order issued on May 23, 2011. Ohio Valley Elec. Corp.,
Docket Nos. ER11-3181-000, ER11-3440-000 and ER11-3441-000 (May 23, 2011) (delegated letter order).

15 The abbreviations of the Sponsoring Companies’ parent entities are as follows: American Electric Power
Company, Inc. (“AEP”); The AES Corporation (“AES”); Buckeye Power, Inc. (“Buckeye”); Duke Energy
Corporation (“Duke”); FirstEnergy Corp. (“FE”); PPL Corporation (“PPL”); Vectren Corporation (“Vectren™);
Wolverine Power Supply Cooperative, Inc. (“Wolverine”).

16 ICPA, Section 4.03.
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Sponsoring Company is “obligated to avail itself of any Available Energy,”"’

they are each
individually responsible for their proportionate share of the fixed and operating costs of the
project, including the costs of additions, upgrades, repairs, employee benefits (including post-
retirement benefits obligations) and eventually decommissioning.'® In addition, they are
responsible for adjustment charges for “Minimum Loading Event Costs” if they fail to take their
“Power Participant Ratio” share of the facilities’ energy output.”” Their obligations under the
ICPA are individual, not joint.’ That is, each Sponsoring Company is responsible only for its
assigned pro rata portion of the OVEC’s costs. FirstEnergy’s proportionate share of the OVEC
costs — including the eventual and substantial costs of environmentally sound decommissioning
is just under 5%.*' In these respects the ICPA is more accurately viewed not as a conventional
purchased power agreement, but a joint venture whose participants have committed to support
the operation of OVEC’s facilities from “cradle to grave.”

The unique nature of the agreement — the fact that the rights and obligations of all the
parties to the ICPA are “several and not joint or joint and several”? for the life of the generating
facilities — is directly related to OVEC’s breach claim in the event FirstEnergy is able to reject
the ICPA in bankruptcy. In November 2016, Moody’s announced that it had “placed the ratings
of the Ohio Valley Electric Corporation (OVEC) under review for downgrade,” an action it said
was prompted by “the downgrade of FirstEnergy Corp’s (FirstEnergy) subsidiaries FirstEnergy

Solutions Corp. (FES: Caal negative) and Allegheny Energy Supply Company, LLC (AES: Bl

7 1d.

18 See id., Sections 7.01, 7.02, 7.03 and 8.04.

" Id., Section 5.05.

0 1d., Section 9.11.

! Id., Section 1.0117 (identifying FirstEnergy’s Power Participation Ratio as 4.85%).
2 Id., Section 9.11.
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IV. COMPLAINT FOR ANTICIPATORY BREACH

This Commission has the authority and obligation to ensure enforcement of the
ICPA,* because the ICPA is a wholesale power arrangement subject to FERC's exclusive
jurisdiction — and not jurisdiction of a bankruptcy court — and because the ICPA, as a filed
rate, is "binding upon the seller and purchaser alike."*® Neither commercial nor equitable
concerns are a defense by the purchaser against its obligation to pay the filed rate.* In fact,
the Commission's failure to enforce the filed tariff rate against a customer, even where
parties had agreed to a different rate, would amount to unlawful discrimination.** The
foregoing does not mean that the Commission lacks the authority itself to modify or
terminate a filed rate, but where that filed rate is embodied in, and fixed, by a voluntary
agreement, the burden — a very steep one — is on the party seeking the change to demonstrate
that the change is in the public interest.*’ That is the situation here, as ICPA Article 9.09
expressly provides that absent the consent of all parties, those seeking changes to the

provisions of the agreement must meet the Mobile-Sierra public interest test.
A. The Public Interest Standard

Regarding the public interest standard, OVEC urges the Commission to find, not

only that it has exclusive jurisdiction over any attempt by FirstEnergy to reject its

37 Section 309 of the FPA, 16 U.S.C. § 825h, gives the Commission the power "perform any and all acts
...necessary or appropriate to carry out" its obligations under the Act, including its obligation to ensure adherence to
the filed rate. Thus, for example, if the Commission has erroneously permitted a utility to undercharge a customer,
the Commission has the inherent authority to correct its error and order the customer to pay a surcharge as a means
to address the resulting undercollection. See, e.g., Cambridge Electric Light Co., 66 FERC 61,346 at 62,162 (1994)
(citing United Gas Improvement Co. v. Callery Properties, Inc., 382 U.S. 223, 229 (1965)).

38 Nw. Pub. Serv. Co. v. Montana-Dakota Utils. Co., 181 F.2d 19 (8th Cir. 1950), aff'd, 341 U.S. 246 (1951).
% Maislin Indus. US, Inc. v. Primary Steel, Inc., 497 US 116, 126-28 (1990).
0 1d. at 130.

4 See United Gas Pipeline Co. v. Mobile Gas Serv. Corp., 350 U.S. 332 (1956), Federal Power Comm'n v. Sierra
Pacific Power Co., 350 U.S. 348 (1956) and NRG Power Mktg. v. Maine Pub. Utils. Comm'n, 585 U.S. 165 (2010).

11
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As an initial matter, because the Sponsoring Companies’ obligations are several and
not joint, if FirstEnergy is able to reject its obligations under the ICPA, the resulting cost
shortfalls are not payable by the other Sponsoring Companies and will go unreimbursed
every month over the life of the contract (i.e., until at least 2040), absent the types of
ameliorative changes to the filed rate discussed in Section IV.B, infra.46 This will further
impact OVEC’s credit rating (which already has been impacted by the prospect of contract
rejection), further raising OVEC’s borrowing costs. Those higher borrowing costs will
directly result in higher costs to the remaining Sponsoring Companies and their customers.
In the case of OVEC’s rural electric cooperative Sponsoring Companies, for example, whose
customers are their owners, all of these increased costs will be borne by the ultimate
ratepayers.

Moreover, the ICPA contemplates that the Sponsoring Companies will cover the
eventual and substantial cost of environmentally sound decommissioning of the OVEC
plants when they are retired from service in 2040 or thereafter. When assessing the
potential environmental remediation costs — including the clean closure of the site’s landfills
and ponds — and all other ancillary charges that will be associated with restoring each
location to a condition suitable for industrial use, OVEC has estimated that the costs for
both sites currently exceed $240 million, assuming all expenditures would have occurred in
2017. Because the retirement of the units will not take place until 2040 under the ICPA,
however, the final decommissioning costs are simply too difficult to quantify with any

reasonable measure of certainty, though this figure will only increase in the future given

% More specifically, OVEC is referring to replacing FirstEnergy with a new Sponsoring Company at a discount,
and/or renegotiation of the ICPA to reallocate the revenue shortfall associated with FirstEnergy's rejection of the
contract.

13
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potential changes in environmental regulations and other escalation of costs. And without
FirstEnergy’s ongoing contributions, those projected decommissioning costs are likely to
escalate even further and by amounts that neither OVEC (nor any other party) can currently
predict with an exact level of certainty.

As indicated, OVEC currently has approximately 660 employees (and has
approximately 650 retired employees and surviving spouses receiving pension and other
benefits from OVEC). The ICPA requires the Sponsoring Companies to pay all salaries and
benefits of such employees, as well as pensions and post-retirement benefits through 2040
and thereafter. Such obligations are likely to be significant and very difficult to estimate.

Further, the ICPA similarly requires the Sponsoring Companies to pay all of OVEC’s
borrowing costs. As result of OVEC’s construction of significant emissions’ control
equipment at both of its plants, as of December 31, 2017, OVEC’s outstanding debt
obligations were approximately $1.4 billion. FirstEnergy’s 4.85% pro rata responsibility
for this debt amounts to $67.9 million. However, if FirstEnergy is allowed to reject its
obligations under the ICPA, OVEC and the remaining Sponsoring Companies would need to
come up with some way to close the gap in OVEC’s recovery of its costs, which would
likely result in further increased debt and borrowing costs for OVEC’s remaining
Sponsoring Companies, with a disproportionately adverse effect on the costs of OVEC’s
power and energy to them and their customers. OVEC would be faced with a number of
options, including potentially borrowing additional funds (including to refinance
FirstEnergy’s portion of maturities as they come due at ever-increasing borrowing costs),
attempting to locate a new Sponsoring Company to replace FirstEnergy’s ownership interest

a discount, and/or a renegotiation of the ICPA with all Sponsoring Companies to reallocate

14
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the revenue shortfall associated with FirstEnergy’s rejection of the contract. All of these
options would raise and reallocate the costs of power and energy generated by the OVEC
facilities. Furthermore, OVEC understands that many of OVEC’s Sponsoring Companies
bid their entitlement to OVEC’s power and energy into nearby markets (principally, PIM).
While power and energy from OVEC is currently economic to dispatch, there is no guaranty
that if OVEC’s costs continue to increase, this proposition will continue to remain true, may
result in upward pressure on market prices in the PJM market.

All of these consequences would be adverse to the public interest.

B. FERC’s Authority Over Termination of FirstEnergy’s Purchase
Obligation is Exclusive.

For a number of years, the Commission took the position that parties seeking relief
from the terms of filed wholesale contracts must seek such relief in proceedings before
FERC, and that any effort by one party to reject a FERC-regulated contract in a bankruptcy
proceeding “is actually a collateral attack upon a filed rate.”” The United States District
Court for the Southern District of New York expressly endorsed that position in In re

8

Calpine.”® Tt held that a bankruptcy court’s rejection of a power purchase agreement

“directly interferes with FERC’s exclusive jurisdiction and regulatory authority over
wholesale power contracts or otherwise constitutes a collateral attack of the filed rate.”*

The rationale for the court’s holding is instructive. It recognized that the

Commission has exclusive jurisdiction “over the rates, terms, conditions, and duration of

*7 In re Mirant, 378 F.3d at 518.
“8 In re Calpine Corp., 337 B.R. at 36.
®Id.

15
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Mirant case, the Fifth Circuit stated that the Commission’s authority is exclusive only with
respect to the application of the filed rate doctrine where there is a change to the filed rate.”’
Thus, it ruled that “while the FPA does preempt breach of contract claims that challenge a
filed rate, district courts are permitted to grant relief in situations where the breach of

contract claim is based upon another rationale.”®

If rejecting a contract has only an
“indirect effect” on the filed rate, the bankruptcy court’s authority is not preempted.59

This jurisdictional conflict was again considered by United States District Court for
the Southern District of New York in the matter of In re Boston Generating LLC, a
subsequent bankruptcy case involving the proposed rejection of a contract for the
transportation of natural gas. In a preliminary ruling (“Algonquin I’’), the district court
explained that natural gas contracts “require consideration of the Natural Gas Act
[(‘NGA”)],” which “grants FERC ‘exclusive jurisdiction over the transportation and sale of
natural gas in interstate commerce for resale.””*® Noting the rulings from both the Mirant
and Calpine courts, Algonquin I recognized that there was “no binding precedent that
applies a bankruptcy court’s authority to reject an executory contract to a contract regulated
by FERC under the NGA.”®! In a subsequent ruling in those proceedings (“Algongquin II”),

the Southern District of New York concluded that while the bankruptcy court did enjoy the

authority to reject a contract governed by the NGA, “the Debtors must also obtain a ruling

57 In re Mirant, supra, 378 F.3d at 519.
% Id.
% Id. at 519-20.

% In re Boston Generating, LLC, No. 10 CIV. 6528 DLC, 2010 WL 4288171 at *4 (S.D.N.Y. Nov. 1, 2010)
(quoting Schneidewind v. ANR Pipeline Co., 485 U.S. 293, 300-01 (1988)).

8! In re Boston Generating, LLC, No., 2010 WL 4288171 at *6 (emphasis added).

17
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from FERC that abrogation of the contract does not contravene the public interest.”®

Algonquin II afforded FERC the exclusive authority to make this public interest
determination, and went on to hold that if “FERC does not approve the Debtors’ rejection of
the [transportation contract], the Debtors may not reject the contract.”®

OVEC acknowledges that in a January 2006 case — Cal. Oversight Bd. et al. v.
Calpine Energy Servs., et al.*® FERC had stated its intention to “follow” Mirant: finding
that the Fifth Circuit had “spoken to the issue” in Mirant, FERC stated that it planned “to

765 FERC added, however, that it nonetheless would make a

follow that authority.
determination whether the rejection of the Calpine wholesale contract at issue before it
would be in the public interest “and then inform the Bankruptcy Court of its views.”® But
there are ample reasons for the Commission to conclude, based on more recent precedent,
both that (1) it should not continue to follow Mirant and that (2) in any event, Mirant does
not preclude the relief sought in OVEC’s Complaint.

First, it was only a few weeks after the Commission’s decision in Cal. Oversight Bd.
that the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York — addressing the
same Calpine contracts at issue in that case — issued the opinion, discussed supra, that

FERC’s rate authority preempted the bankruptcy court’s authority to reject FERC-

jurisdictional contracts.®” To OVEC’s knowledge, the Commission has not considered the

52 In re Boston Generating, LLC, No. 10 CIV. 6528 DLC, 2010 WL 4616243 at *1 (S.D.N.Y. Nov. 12, 2010)
(emphasis added).

83 Id. at *3 (emphasis added).

% 114 FERC { 61,003 (2006).

Id atP11.

Id atP12.

57 In re Calpine Corp., supra, 337 B.R. at 36.

18

JIF Exhibits overall page 218



[Exhibits to Direct Testimony of Jeremy |. Fisher, PhD, on Behalf of Sierra Club]

impact of the Southern District of New York’s opinions (i.e., Calpine and Algonquin I and
II), in any other case and therefore has not expressly revisited its decision to follow Mirant.
The District Court decision in Calpine, however, did lift the restraining order that was then
“restricting FERC from determining the disposition of energy contracts,”®® a constraint that
undoubtedly influenced the Commission’s decision, a few weeks earlier, to follow Mirant.

Second, the Calpine opinion also explained, in detail, the reasons why the District
Court concluded that the Fifth Circuit’s Mirant decision was incorrect and indistinguishable,
not least of which is the fact that a bankruptcy court rejection hearing would likely provide
an inadequate forum in which to consider public interest factors. The court’s analysis bears
recitation here:

The Court is aware that its holding here is in obvious conflict with the holding
of the Fifth Circuit in Mirant, 378 F.3d 511, and the conclusions of the FERC
Order.[10] Mirant is not controlling here and relies heavily on Fifth Circuit
cases that have no Second Circuit corollaries. Nevertheless, were the Court to
adopt and apply Mirant faithfully, it would still find that FERC has exclusive
jurisdiction over the fate of the Power Agreements.

In Mirant, public utility PEPCO, pursuant to deregulation legislation, sold its
electric generation facilities and assigned most of its power purchase
agreements to Mirant, a power purchaser and provider. 378 F.3d at 515.
Because some of the power purchase agreements contained language that
foreclosed PEPCO from assigning them, PEPCO and Mirant entered into a
separate agreement (also FERC-regulated), which provided that PEPCO would
continue to buy energy under the unassigned agreements and that Mirant
would purchase that energy from PEPCO at the filed rates set in those
contracts. Id. When Mirant later filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy, it sought to
reject the contracts that bound it to buy the energy from PEPCO. Id. at 516.
The district court withdrew the reference to the bankruptcy court of the
rejection motions and later found, inter alia, that the FPA deprived it of
jurisdiction. Id. at 516-17.

The Fifth Circuit reversed the district court. It recognized first that a rejection
of a contract under § 365 constitutes a breach, not a modification of the

88 Id. at 30.

19
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contract. Id. at 519. Central to the Fifth Circuit’s holding is the notion that
“[w]hile the FPA does preempt breach of contract claims that challenge a filed
rate, district courts are permitted to grant relief in situations where the breach
of contract claim is 38*38 based upon another rationale.” Id. Though above-
market rates were part of Mirant’s decision to reject the contracts, the court
found that Mirant’s main justification was that it did not need the energy it
was purchasing from PEPCO to fulfill its own obligations to supply electricity;
“Mirant may choose to reject this agreement as unnecessary to its reorganized
business because it represents excess capacity in its system to supply
electricity.” Id. at 520. The only thing separating Mirant’s rejection motion
from being an unlawful collateral attack on the rate was the fact that it did not
want the energy at all. Indeed, in reaching its holding, the Mirant Court quoted
Fifth Circuit precedent that held: “The district court would have jurisdiction if
[the debtor] claimed that it cannot take [the supplier’s] electricity regardless of
price. If, however, [the debtor] can fulfill its purchase obligations at lower
rate, then [the debtor] merely seeks rate relief not available in district court.”
Id. (quoting Gulf States Utils. Co. v. Ala. Power Co., 824 F.2d 1465, 1472 (5th
Cir. 1987)). The Court concluded that, under the circumstances, the rejection
of the contracts would only have an “indirect effect” on the rate, and thus the
FPA would not preempt the district court from exercising its jurisdiction under
the Bankruptcy Code.

As noted, this Court does not construe the filed rate doctrine so narrowly as to
only reach modifications of the rate. Just the same, Mirant’s holding militates
against Calpine. Here, while Calpine expressly states that it seeks relief from
the Power Purchase Agreements because it is forced to sell energy at rates far
below market, it does not offer “another rationale.” Id. at 519. Calpine remains
“ready and willing to supply the same amount of wholesale electric power—
but at competitive market prices”(Posoli Aff. P28), so there is no excess
capacity issue presented, but merely a desire to get a better rate.[11] The
Mirant Court clearly held that it would find FPA preemption where, as here, a
debtor was able to fulfill its obligations but only at a lower rate. Mirant, 378
F.3d at 520. Rejection in such a situation does not “indirectly effect” the filed
rate; it is a collateral attack on it.

The Court’s conclusion in this case is consistent with general policy
considerations, including the proper allocation of power in our system of
separated powers. The Supreme Court has held that “[t]he clear assignment of
power to a branch . . . allows the citizen to know who may be called to answer
for making, or not making, those delicate and necessary decisions essential to
governance.” Loving v. United States, 517 U.S. 748, 758, 116 S.Ct. 1737, 135
L.Ed.2d 36 (1996). This principle seems particularly applicable here. By
holding that FERC has exclusive jurisdiction to modify or terminate the Power
Agreements in this case, an issue of great public interest will be heard in a
branch accountable to the electorate in a forum that specializes in considering
the public interest.

20
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To this end, although the Court takes no formal position on what standard
would apply were it to have jurisdiction, the Court does note that the standard
issue may very well compel the Court’s finding that it lacks jurisdiction
altogether to authorize the rejection of the Power Agreements. Both the Mirant
decision and the FERC Order predicate bankruptcy court jurisdiction to reject
energy contracts on the belief that the public interest is adequately considered
at a rejection hearing, at least in part through FERC’s participation. See
Mirant, 378 F.3d at 525 39*39 (“Use of the business judgment standard would
be inappropriate because it would not account for the public interest inherent
in the transmission and sale of electricity. . . . We presume that the district
court would also welcome FERC’s participation. . . .”); FERC Order | 12
(displaying willingness to “inform the Bankruptcy Court [on] the impact on
the public interest of a potential rejection”). This process would allow the
bankruptcy court to sit in judgment of FERC’s determination of the public
interest, a prospect prohibited by established case law. See MCorp Fin. Inc.,
502 U.S. at 41, 112 S.Ct. 459 (disallowing the bankruptcy court to scrutinize
the legitimacy of federal agency action); In re Federal Communications
Commission, 217 F.3d 125, 135 (holding that a federal agency “need not
defend its regulatory calculus in the bankruptcy court”); In re NRG Energy,
2003 WL 21507685 at *3 (holding that, under the FPA, actions taken by FERC
are reviewable only by a court of appeals). To the extent that, under the FPA,
the fate of wholesale power contracts cannot be determined without
consideration of the public interest, the executive agency FERC should
determine that interest. Cf. Smith v. Hoboken R.R. Warehouse & 8S.S.
Connecting Co., 328 U.S. 123, 131, 66 S.Ct. 947, 90 L. Ed. 1123 (1946)
(“When the public interest, as distinguished from private, bulks large in the
problem, the solution is largely a function of the legislative and administrative
agencies of government with their facilities and experience in investigating all
aspects of the problem and appraising the general interest.”)®

OVEC submits that the more recent District Court decision is better reasoned and
that FERC should follow it in addressing OVEC’s Complaint. Like the Calpine case, this is
not a case involving a matter of contract interpretation. No party is seeking bankruptcy
rejection because the other party has failed to comply with the ICPA’s terms nor is it a
circumstance where this contract provides a unilateral right of termination. Breaching an
obligation under the ICPA involves public interest considerations that are within FERC’s

special competence and exclusive jurisdiction. The special circumstances in this case

% Id. at 37-39.
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involve a multi-party contract between OVEC and the Sponsoring Companies to pay the
fixed cost of OVEC’s generating facilities through June 2040. Beyond that date, the
Sponsoring Companies also are responsible for the costs incurred for the demolition and
decommissioning of such facilities. The decision by one of the Sponsoring Companies to
exit its merchant generation business through bankruptcy should not provide a basis for
avoiding the contractual commitment that it made to pay its proportionate share of the costs
of the facilities and its consequent impact on OVEC, its remaining Sponsoring Companies
and their customers. The District Court’s opinion better accommodates these uniquely
FERC-related public interest concerns than does the Mirant opinion.

But even if the Commission continues to follow the Mirant holding, this case falls
within the area of exclusive Commission jurisdiction recognized in Mirant. As noted
earlier, Mirant finds no Commission preemption of bankruptcy court jurisdiction where
rejection of a contract would have only an indirect effect on filed rates.”” Even under the
narrowest reading of FERC’s authority vis-a-vis that of the bankruptcy courts, FERC’s
authority is exclusive where the debtor’s actions would result in changes to a FERC-filed

1
ratf:.7

Unlike the Mirant case, rejection of the ICPA will have a direct effect on the filed
rate and, as discussed below, a resulting adverse effect on customers.
In this case the ICPA is the filed rate. The direct result of contract rejection would

be to change to the filed rate currently reflected in the ICPA and to increase costs to

OVEC’s remaining customers (and in certain circumstances ratepayers) which could equal

™ In re Mirant, supra, 378 F.3d at 519-20.
" Id. at 519.
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hundreds of millions of dollars over the remaining life of the contract.”> This eventuality is
a direct consequence of the structure of that agreement itself. As discussed earlier, the
ICPA is akin to a joint venture arrangement (including “cradle to grave” coverage of all
costs regardless of usage) and is viewed as such by the markets and the rating agencies. The
obligation of the off-takers under the ICPA is several but not joint, exposing OVEC to the
risk of nonpayment in the event of a defaulting Sponsoring Company because the non-
defaulting Sponsoring Companies are not obligated to cover the shortfall. Because of the
several, not joint, liabilities of the Sponsoring Companies under the ICPA, even Moody’s
points out that a FirstEnergy rejection of its obligations, coupled with no other changes to
the ICPA would likely lead to a further downgrade in OVEC’s credit rating.” A similar
downgrade risk would result if there was a payment default by a Sponsoring Company that
OVEC would not be able to cover by its existing reserves or through a replacement of the
defaulting Sponsoring Company.” But coverage through use of OVEC’s existing reserves
would be a mere temporary fix, and OVEC would not only need to seek a replacement for
FirstEnergy, it may have to offer any such replacement Sponsoring Company a substantial
discount — in effect a different filed rate. Or, to keep OVEC “whole” in the absence of a
new replacement Sponsoring Company, the remaining existing Sponsoring Companies
would need to increase their proportionate ownership shares and corresponding cost
responsibilities, which for many of these remaining Sponsoring Companies will result in

increased rates passed on to their customers and to the public. All of these consequences

> What could follow is a legal “out” of the ICPA for other Sponsoring Companies. As costs increase towards the
end of the useful life of the ICPA, the obligation to demolish and clean up the facilities may be saddled upon only
those Sponsoring Companies who have not rejected the agreement.

73 Attachment B.
"Ia.
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stem not from a mere “simple” rejection by a bankrupt debtor who no longer needs power at
any price, like the Mirant debtor. Rather, these consequences — which are the direct effect
of rejection of the ICPA by FirstEnergy — reflect multiple, multi-party, interconnected
changes to the filed rate, with a direct impact on rates paid by the consuming public.
Bankruptcy rejection serves as the functional equivalent to determination that the
obligations under the ICPA are unjust and unreasonable from the debtor’s perpsective, thus
permitting termination. Under applicable FERC case law, however, this requires
consideration of the public interest in terminating a contract obligation. Only FERC can
make the determination whether FirstEnergy’s termination of its obligations under the ICPA
would be consistent with the public interest. As a result, this Commission should hold that a

bankruptcy court lacks jurisdiction to consider rejection of the ICPA.
V. COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 206 COMPLAINT FILING REQUIREMENTS

A. Description of Alleged Violation and Quantification of Impacts (18 C.F.R. §
385.206(b)(1)-(5)).

Parts T — IV of this Complaint set forth the required information. As stated therein,
FirstEnergy’s anticipated rejection of the ICPA would constitute a breach of its obligations
under a rate schedule on file with the Commission, the threat of which has already resulted in
a downgrade to OVEC’s credit rating. FirstEnergy’s rejection of its obligations will
ultimately saddle OVEC’s remaining Sponsoring Companies and their customers with
hundreds of millions of dollars in additional costs over the remaining life of the agreement.

B. Other Pending Proceedings (18 C.F.R. § 385.206(b)(6)).

The issues presented herein are not pending in an existing Commission proceeding or

a proceeding in any other forum in which OVEC is a party.
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C. Specific Relief or Remedy Requested (18 C.F.R. § 385.206(b)(7)).

OVEC’s specific request for relief is set forth in more detail in the body of this
Complaint.

D. Supporting Documentation (18 C.F.R. § 385.206(b)(8)).

All documents supporting the facts set forth in this Complaint are included as
attachments hereto.

E. Use of Alternate Dispute Resolution Mechanism (18 C.F.R. § 385.206(b)(9)).

OVEC has not used the Commission’s Enforcement Hotline, Dispute Resolution
Service or tariff-based dispute resolution mechanisms. The exigencies of the situation facing
OVEC - FirstEnergy’s threatened imminent bankruptcy filing — have made any attempt to
pursue other alternatives impractical.

F. Form of Notice (18 C.F.R. § 385.206(b)(10)).

A form of notice of this Complaint suitable for publication in the Federal Register is
provided as an attachment hereto and submitted in electronic form.

G. Basis for Fast Track Request (18 C.F.R. § 385.206(b)(11)).

OVEC does not request fast-track processing of its Complaint under Rule 206(b)(11) of
the Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure.

H. Service (18 C.F.R. § 385.206(c)).

OVEC has served a copy of this Complaint upon the Respondent simultaneous with its
filing of the Complaint with the Commission. OVEC has also served copies of the Complaint

upon all other Sponsoring Companies to the ICPA and to the relevant state authorities.
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jurisdiction to address FirstEnergy’s rejection of the ICPA and to determine that such a rejection
would result in a change to the filed rate reflected in that agreement. Such a determination
would avoid prolonged litigation over FirstEnergy’s obligations under the ICPA and the ensuing
damage to OVEC’s credit rating while this issue plays out in the bankruptcy court.

B. Alternatively, the Commission Should Issue a Declaratory Order Finding

that FirstEnergy’s Rejection of the ICPA Would Be Contrary to the Public
Interest.

As noted at the outset of this pleading, OVEC also requests a declaratory order even if the
Commission concludes that its authority is not exclusive. A declaratory order addressing
whether rejection of the ICPA contract is in the public interest would be of significant value to
the bankruptcy court. More than that, even a bankruptcy court following Mirant, at a
minimum, would be obliged to consider determinations by this Commission whether
rejection of the ICPA would be in the public interest. “Supreme Court precedent supports
applying a more rigorous standard” than the “business judgment standard” to motions to
reject contracts of a “special nature,” like collective bargaining agreements.*> And as the
Fifth Circuit noted, “the nature of a contract for the interstate sale of electricity at wholesale

is also unique.”®

“Use of the business judgment standard,” it stated, “would be
inappropriate in this case because it would not account for the public interest inherent in the

transmission and sale of electricity.”® In remanding the case back to the bankruptcy court,

82 In re Mirant Corp., 378 F.3d at 524-25.
8 Id. at 525.
¥ 1d.
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the Fifth Circuit advised that FERC would be able to assist it in balancing the public interest
f:quitif:s.85

On remand, the lower court embraced the Fifth Circuit’s directives, stating that it
would:

carefully scrutinize the impact of rejection upon the public interest and would, inter

alia, ensure that rejection will not cause any disruption in the supply of electricity to

other public utilities or to consumers or lead to unjust or excessive rates. If rejection
would compromise the public interest in any respect, it would not be authorized unless

Debtors show that they cannot reorganize without the rejection. Before authorizing a

rejection, the court would give the FERC an opportunity to participate as a party in

interest for all purposes in this case under 11 U.S.C. § 1109(b) and FED. R. BANKR.

P. 2018(a), and would afford the FERC an opportunity to engage in appropriate inquiry

to enable it to evaluate the effect that such a rejection would have on the public

. 86

Interest.

OVEC believes the Commission has sufficient information to declare that rejection of the
ICPA would, in fact, be contrary to the public interest. As discussed earlier, the ICPA is not a
bilateral agreement, but, as the rating agencies have viewed it, the agreement is more in the
nature of a joint venture arrangement. Rejection of the ICPA will thus impact not only OVEC,
but the other joint venture participants. In the short run, it raises OVEC’s borrowing costs and,
over the remaining life of the contract would shift hundreds of millions of dollars of OVEC’s
expenses for which FirstEnergy is now responsible to OVEC’s remaining owners and their
customers.

But even if the Commission were to conclude that it needs more information to ascertain

where the public interest lies if FirstEnergy is permitted to reject the ICPA, it should still

determine that it would address the question in a declaratory order. The Commission could do so

8 1d. at 526. See also, Cal. Oversight Bd. et al. v. Calpine Energy Servs., L.P. et al., 114 FERC { 61,003, PP 5-11
(2006).

8 In re Mirant Corp., 318 B.R. at108.
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after opening the proceeding to the filing of comments and briefs so that it has the record it needs

to address the issue.

VII. CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, OVEC seeks the following relief from the Commission:

1.

A Commission order granting OVEC's Complaint (1) by making a finding that
FirstEnergy's anticipatory breach of the ICPA constitutes a violation of its
obligations under that agreement, and (2) by making a determination that
permitting FirstEnergy to terminate its obligations under the ICPA would be
contrary to the public interest in violation of the Mobile Sierra doctrine (and to
establish such additional procedures as may be necessary to make the latter
determination);

Alternatively, a Commission order declaring that it has exclusive jurisdiction to
ascertain whether FirstEnergy's termination of its purchase obligation under the
ICPA, by rejection of the contract in bankruptcy or otherwise, (1) is a matter
exclusively within the jurisdiction of the Commission, and (2) that such
termination would be contrary to the public interest in violation of the Mobile
Sierra doctrine (and to establish such additional procedures as may be necessary
to make the latter determination); and

. Alternatively, should the Commission determine that it lacks exclusive

jurisdiction, to initiate proceedings to ascertain whether termination of
FirstEnergy's purchase obligations under the ICPA would be contrary to the
public interest in violation of the Mobile Sierra doctrine (and to establish such
additional procedures for the development of a record as may be necessary to
make the latter determination) and to advise the bankruptcy court both of its
intention to make such a determination and of its ultimate conclusions.
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..Issuer: Ohio Air Quality Development Authority

....Senior Unsecured Revenue Bonds, Placed on Review for Downgrade, currently Baa3
Outlook Actions:

..Issuer: Ohio Valley Electric Corp

...-Outlook, Changed To Rating Under Review From Negative

The principal methodology used in these ratings was US Municipal Joint Action Agencies published in October
2016. Please see the Rating Methodologies page on www.moodys.com for a copy of this methodology.

OVEC owns and operates two coal-fired generating power plants, Kyger Creek in Ohio and Clifty Creek in
Indiana, that have a combined capacity of approximately 2,400 MW. OVEC is sponsored by nine investor-
owned regulated electric utilities, two independent generating companies (subsidiaries of a utility holding
company) and two affiliates of generation and transmission cooperatives (collectively, the Sponsors). The
Sponsors purchase OVEC's power at wholesale, cost based, rates. The ownership structure is governed by a
long-term Inter-Company Power Agreement (ICPA) expiring in 2040.

REGULATORY DISCLOSURES

For ratings issued on a program, series or category/class of debt, this announcement provides certain
regulatory disclosures in relation to each rating of a subsequently issued bond or note of the same series or
category/class of debt or pursuant to a program for which the ratings are derived exclusively from existing
ratings in accordance with Moody's rating practices. For ratings issued on a support provider, this
announcement provides certain regulatory disclosures in relation to the credit rating action on the support
provider and in relation to each particular credit rating action for securities that derive their credit ratings from
the support provider's credit rating. For provisional ratings, this announcement provides certain regulatory
disclosures in relation to the provisional rating assigned, and in relation to a definitive rating that may be
assigned subsequent to the final issuance of the debt, in each case where the transaction structure and terms
have not changed prior to the assignment of the definitive rating in a manner that would have affected the
rating. For further information please see the ratings tab on the issuer/entity page for the respective issuer on
www.moodys.com.

For any affected securities or rated entities receiving direct credit support from the primary entity(ies) of this
credit rating action, and whose ratings may change as a result of this credit rating action, the associated
regulatory disclosures will be those of the guarantor entity. Exceptions to this approach exist for the following
disclosures, if applicable to jurisdiction: Ancillary Services, Disclosure to rated entity, Disclosure from rated
entity.

Regulatory disclosures contained in this press release apply to the credit rating and, if applicable, the related
rating outlook or rating review.

Please see www.moodys.com for any updates on changes to the lead rating analyst and to the Moody's legal
entity that has issued the rating.

Please see the ratings tab on the issuer/entity page on www.moodys.com for additional regulatory disclosures
for each credit rating.

Laura Schumacher

VP - Senior Credit Officer
Infrastructure Finance Group
Moody's Investors Service, Inc.
250 Greenwich Street

New York, NY 10007

US.A.

JOURNALISTS: 212-553-0376
SUBSCRIBERS: 212-553-1653

Jim Hempstead

Associate Managing Director
Infrastructure Finance Group
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municipal bonds, debentures, notes and commercial paper) and preferred stock rated by MJKK or MSFJ (as
applicable) have, prior to assignment of any rating, agreed to pay to MJKK or MSFJ (as applicable) for
appraisal and rating services rendered by it fees ranging from JPY200,000 to approximately JPY350,000,000.

MJKK and MSFJ also maintain policies and procedures to address Japanese regulatory requirements.
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ICPA Enforceability Is Key: OVEC's credit profile derives from the legal
enforceability of the ICPA between OVEC and its sponsors. Sponsors are
severally responsible to reimburse all of OVEC's expenditures regardless of
total electricity generated and supplied by OVEC. Due to the diversity of the
sponsor base, Fitch Ratings takes into consideration the average credit
profile of the sponsors rather than tying OVEC's ratings to that of the lowest-
rated sponsor.

Off-Takers' Ability to Recover Costs: The continued ability of the sponsors to
recover OVEC-related costs is an important rating driver, because OVEC's
all-in costs generally exceed prevailing wholesale energy prices. Nearly 80%
of sponsors/off-takers can recover OVEC-related costs either through a
regulatory construct or through sponsors' membership charter.

Efficient Operating Performance: OVEC's coal plants maintain favorable
availability and utilization factors despite their age, averaging about 70% and
77%, respectively, in 2014-2016. Furthermore, capacity utilization has
trended upward since the integration of OVEC's generation capacity into the
PJM Interconnection, LLC region in May 2016.

Compliance with a stream of environmental regulation over the past decade
has precipitated incremental capex and put upward pressure on demand
costs. However, management forecasts modest environmental capex in 2017
- 2024, as the plants are currently compliant with MATS and CSAPR
requirements. The impact of the Clean Power Plan currently falls outside the
rating horizon. Nonetheless, Fitch will closely monitor the evolution of
legislative challenges and compliance plans presented by Ohio and Indiana
as these will influence OVEC's operating costs and capacity utilization over
the long term.

KEY ASSUMPTIONS
Fitch's key assumptions within the rating case for OVEC include:
--Average usage factor of 75% in 2017-2019;

--Operating costs increasing by 1% annually;
--Debt repayments limited to amortization schedule.
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RATING SENSITIVITIES

Positive Rating Sensitivities

Fitch would affirm the ratings should the financially stressed sponsors
transfer their obligations to entities with investment grade profiles.
Modification of the ICPA, incremental contributions or other similar mitigating
actions from remaining sponsors or shareholders to permanently offset the
loss a sponsor could also stabilize the ratings. Ratings upgrade is unlikely
given that OVEC's credit profile is constrained by its sponsors' credit ratings
and increasingly stringent environmental emission mandates.

Negative Rating Sensitivities

Any attempt by a sponsor to terminate the ICPA would most likely lead to a
negative rating action. Alternatively, prolonged revenue shortfall leading to a
material deterioration of OVEC's liquidity and financial resources would likely
result in negative rating actions. Although not contemplated at this time,
failure to replace a defaulted sponsor or to establish a reserve to meet
permanent recovery shortfalls could result in a more-than-one-notch
downgrade. Fitch would also take a negative rating action if compliance with
new environmental rules materially limits OVEC's ability to achieve a high
capacity factor and render the ICPA very expensive for the sponsors.

LIQUIDITY

At March 31, 2017, OVEC had $168million of available liquidity, including $53
million in cash and cash equivalents and $115 million available under its $200
million revolving credit facility (expiry on Nov. 17, 2019). OVEC could also
draw on $122 million of long-term financial investments, if needed, to bolster
liquidity. Semi-monthly settlement of accounts receivable from sponsors/off-
takers reduces OVEC's working capital needs. Debt maturities in 2017 -2019
are minimal following refinancing activities completed on Aug. 4, 2022.

Contact:
Primary Analyst

Maude Tremblay, CFA
Director
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+1-312-368-3203
Fitch Ratings, Inc.

70 W. Madison Street
Chicago, IL 60602

Secondary Analyst
Julie Jiang
Director
+1-212-908-0708

Committee Chairperson
Shalini Mahajan, CFA
Managing Director
+1-212-908-0351

Date of Relevant Rating Committee: Nov. 17, 2016

Summary of Financial Statement Adjustments - There were no financial
statement adjustments made that were material to the rating rationale
outlined above.

Media Relations: Elizabeth Fogerty, New York, Tel: +1 (212) 908 0526,
Email: elizabeth.fogerty@fitchratings.com; Sandro Scenga, New York, Tel: +1
212-908-0278, Email: sandro.scenga@fitchratings.com.

Additional information is available on www fitchratings.com. For regulatory
purposes in various jurisdictions, the supervisory analyst named above is
deemed to be the primary analyst for this issuer; the principal analyst is
deemed to be the secondary.

Applicable Criteria

Criteria for Rating Non-Financial Corporates - Effective from 27 September
2016 to 10 March 2017 (pub. 27 Sep 2016)
(https://www.fitchratings.com/site/re/885629)

Additional Disclosures
Solicitation Status (https://www.fitchratings.com/site/pr/1027629%#solicitation)
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Endorsement Policy (https://www fitchratings.com/regulatory)

ALL FITCH CREDIT RATINGS ARE SUBJECT TO CERTAIN LIMITATIONS
AND DISCLAIMERS. PLEASE READ THESE LIMITATIONS AND
DISCLAIMERS BY FOLLOWING THIS LINK:
HTTPS://WWW.FITCHRATINGS.COM/UNDERSTANDINGCREDITRATINGS
(https://www.fitchratings.com/understandingcreditratings). IN ADDITION,
RATING DEFINITIONS AND THE TERMS OF USE OF SUCH RATINGS
ARE AVAILABLE ON THE AGENCY'S PUBLIC WEB SITE AT
WWW.FITCHRATINGS.COM (https://www.fitchratings.com). PUBLISHED
RATINGS, CRITERIA, AND METHODOLOGIES ARE AVAILABLE FROM
THIS SITE AT ALL TIMES. FITCH'S CODE OF CONDUCT,
CONFIDENTIALITY, CONFLICTS OF INTEREST, AFFILIATE FIREWALL,
COMPLIANCE, AND OTHER RELEVANT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES
ARE ALSO AVAILABLE FROM THE CODE OF CONDUCT SECTION OF
THIS SITE. DIRECTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS RELEVANT INTERESTS
ARE AVAILABLE AT
HTTPS://WWW.FITCHRATINGS.COM/SITE/REGULATORY

(https:/lwww fitchratings.com/site/regulatory). FITCH MAY HAVE PROVIDED
ANOTHER PERMISSIBLE SERVICE TO THE RATED ENTITY OR ITS
RELATED THIRD PARTIES. DETAILS OF THIS SERVICE FOR RATINGS
FOR WHICH THE LEAD ANALYST IS BASED IN AN EU-REGISTERED
ENTITY CAN BE FOUND ON THE ENTITY SUMMARY PAGE FOR THIS
ISSUER ON THE FITCH WEBSITE.

Copyright © 2017 by Fitch Ratings, Inc., Fitch Ratings Ltd. and its
subsidiaries. 33 Whitehall Street, NY, NY 10004. Telephone: 1-800-753-
4824, (212) 908-0500. Fax: (212) 480-4435. Reproduction or retransmission
in whole or in part is prohibited except by permission. All rights reserved. In
issuing and maintaining its ratings and in making other reports (including
forecast information), Fitch relies on factual information it receives from
issuers and underwriters and from other sources Fitch believes to be
credible. Fitch conducts a reasonable investigation of the factual information
relied upon by it in accordance with its ratings methodology, and obtains
reasonable verification of that information from independent sources, to the
extent such sources are available for a given security or in a given
jurisdiction. The manner of Fitch’s factual investigation and the scope of the
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third-party verification it obtains will vary depending on the nature of the rated
security and its issuer, the requirements and practices in the jurisdiction in
which the rated security is offered and sold and/or the issuer is located, the
availability and nature of relevant public information, access to the
management of the issuer and its advisers, the availability of pre-existing
third-party verifications such as audit reports, agreed-upon procedures
letters, appraisals, actuarial reports, engineering reports, legal opinions and
other reports provided by third parties, the availability of independent and
competent third- party verification sources with respect to the particular
security or in the particular jurisdiction of the issuer, and a variety of other
factors. Users of Fitch’s ratings and reports should understand that neither an
enhanced factual investigation nor any third-party verification can ensure that
all of the information Fitch relies on in connection with a rating or a report will
be accurate and complete. Ultimately, the issuer and its advisers are
responsible for the accuracy of the information they provide to Fitch and to
the market in offering documents and other reports. In issuing its ratings and
its reports, Fitch must rely on the work of experts, including independent
auditors with respect to financial statements and attorneys with respect to
legal and tax matters. Further, ratings and forecasts of financial and other
information are inherently forward-looking and embody assumptions and
predictions about future events that by their nature cannot be verified as
facts. As a result, despite any verification of current facts, ratings and
forecasts can be affected by future events or conditions that were not
anticipated at the time a rating or forecast was issued or affirmed.

The information in this report is provided “as is” without any representation or
warranty of any kind, and Fitch does not represent or warrant that the report
or any of its contents will meet any of the requirements of a recipient of the
report. A Fitch rating is an opinion as to the creditworthiness of a security.
This opinion and reports made by Fitch are based on established criteria and
methodologies that Fitch is continuously evaluating and updating. Therefore,
ratings and reports are the collective work product of Fitch and no individual,
or group of individuals, is solely responsible for a rating or a report. The rating
does not address the risk of loss due to risks other than credit risk, unless
such risk is specifically mentioned. Fitch is not engaged in the offer or sale of
any security. All Fitch reports have shared authorship. Individuals identified in
a Fitch report were involved in, but are not solely responsible for, the opinions
stated therein. The individuals are named for contact purposes only. A report

JIF Exhibits overall page 306

https://www.fitchratings.com/site/pr/1027629 3/23/2018



[ Press Release ] Fitch Rates Ohio Valley Electric Corp's Term Loan 'BBB-'; Outlook NE;" 8;1-Pag?67—0f 8
achmen

[Exhibits to Direct Testimony of Jeremy I. Fisher, PhD, on Behalf of Sierra Club] 70f8

providing a Fitch rating is neither a prospectus nor a substitute for the
information assembled, verified and presented to investors by the issuer and
its agents in connection with the sale of the securities. Ratings may be
changed or withdrawn at any time for any reason in the sole discretion of
Fitch. Fitch does not provide investment advice of any sort. Ratings are not a
recommendation to buy, sell, or hold any security. Ratings do not comment
on the adequacy of market price, the suitability of any security for a particular
investor, or the tax-exempt nature or taxability of payments made in respect
to any security. Fitch receives fees from issuers, insurers, guarantors, other
obligors, and underwriters for rating securities. Such fees generally vary from
US$1,000 to US$750,000 (or the applicable currency equivalent) per issue. In
certain cases, Fitch will rate all or a number of issues issued by a particular
issuer, or insured or guaranteed by a particular insurer or guarantor, for a
single annual fee. Such fees are expected to vary from US$10,000 to
US$1,500,000 (or the applicable currency equivalent). The assignment,
publication, or dissemination of a rating by Fitch shall not constitute a consent
by Fitch to use its name as an expert in connection with any registration
statement filed under the United States securities laws, the Financial
Services and Markets Act of 2000 of the United Kingdom, or the securities
laws of any particular jurisdiction. Due to the relative efficiency of electronic
publishing and distribution, Fitch research may be available to electronic
subscribers up to three days earlier than to print subscribers.

For Australia, New Zealand, Taiwan and South Korea only: Fitch Australia
Pty Ltd holds an Australian financial services license (AFS license no.
337123) which authorizes it to provide credit ratings to wholesale clients only.
Credit ratings information published by Fitch is not intended to be used by
persons who are retail clients within the meaning of the Corporations Act
2001

Solicitation Status

Fitch Ratings was paid to determine each credit rating announced in this
Rating Action Commentary (RAC) by the obligatory being rated or the issuer,
underwriter, depositor, or sponsor of the security or money market instrument
being rated, except for the following:

Endorsement Policy - Fitch's approach to ratings endorsement so that
ratings produced outside the EU may be used by regulated entities within the
EU for regulatory purposes, pursuant to the terms of the EU Regulation with
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respect to credit rating agencies, can be found on the EU Regulatory
Disclosures (https://www fitchratings.com/regulatory) page. The endorsement
status of all International ratings is provided within the entity summary page
for each rated entity and in the transaction detail pages for all structured
finance transactions on the Fitch website. These disclosures are updated on
a daily basis.
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